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SUMMARY

Hawthorne Cemetery is located on the north side of State Road 20, (or Southeast
Hawthorne Road), in Hawthorne, Alachua County, Florida. It is less than one mile east of
the intersection of Highway 20 and United States Highway 301. A low concrete wall with
two entry points defines the southern boundary of the cemetery along State Road 20. The
cemetery boundaries to the east, north, and west are defined by a wire fence. The
cemetery encompasses 13.2 acres and contains over 2000 burials, most of which are
marked. The cemetery does not have mausoleums or support buildings, but memorial
markers of every variety and material are represented. Burials are separated into three
distinct areas, with the oldest concentrated along the northeast corner and eastern edge,
African American burials specifically placed at the northwest corner, and later burials
filling the southern and western portions.

SETTING

The Hawthorne Cemetery is located east of the settlement concentration for the City of
Hawthorne. It fronts south onto Highway 20, a major thoroughfare that extends from the
City of Gainesville eastward to Palatka on the St. Johns River. The topography is
characterized by gently rolling land, sandy soil, with mature oak and pine trees throughout.
The area of earliest settlement for the Hawthorne community, Morrison’s Mill, is located
diagonally to the east on the south side of State Road 20.

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

The cemetery has a perforated concrete block wall along the south border fronting
Hawthorne Road (Photo #1), with two entrances, each marked with concrete signs that
read “Hawthorne Cemetery 1886 1950” (Photo #2). By 1886 the expanding cemetery was
incorporated, and in 1950, a community clean-up effort was initiated to maintain gravesites
and build a concrete wall to keep out wandering cattle. Cedar trees line the concrete wall
within the cemetery. The cemetery site is divided into three distinct areas. There is a large
rectangular area bordering Highway 20 that mostly contains burials less than fifty years
old, but which also contains some early'2@ntury burials in the eastern side. The
northeastern corner of the cemetery contains the earliest burials in the cemetery, including
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the town founder’s wife. The northwest corner, roughly four acres in size, was designated
for African American burials. This area was formerly separated from the others by a wire
fence that was removed in 2013. The cemetery is divided by ten north/south pathways

with the alignment of burials lining either side (Photo #3). Two east/west pathways
transverse at the southern and northern edges of the section bordering Highway 20 and
connect the pathways. The four north/south pathways to the west serve the part of the
cemetery which was opened for burials in 1971. The cemetery contains cedar and spruce
trees and ornamental scrubs. Some mature oak trees are present near the boundaries of the
cemetery. Graves are positioned in an east/west alignment, and family plots are mostly
denoted with brick or stone coping.

The Hawthorne Cemetery was formally established in 1886, although internments occurred

before that date. Research suggests that the 1870 burial of Parazade T. Hawthorn, the wife
of the town’s founder James Hawthorn, was the first internment in this area. After her

burial, several other early community burials appeared adjacent to her plot. Grave markers

in this early northern section are rendered in marble, granite, concrete, and zinc (Photo #4).

The African American area of the cemetery was also developed early. Beginning with the
July 1887 purchase of land adjacent to the white’s section, and subsequent expansion in
1926, this area measures 420ft x 483ft. Markers are less elaborate than other sections, and
are rendered in marble, granite, but mostly concrete (Photo #5).

The large area directly fronting Highway 20 contains burials from the edflget@ury

primarily in the eastern area of the section. The western portion aligned with the
westernmost entrance was put into service in 1971. The total area measures 470ft x 700ft
x 680ft x 730ft, and contains markers rendered in marble, granite, concrete, and bronze
plaques (Photo #6).

Markers

Most memorial markers conform to typical designs and materials common for their time
period; however, a few unusual examples present within this cemetery should be
addressed. The earliest memorial marker in the Hawthorne Cemetery is for Parazade T.
Hawthorn, who died in 1870 (Photo #7). Her memorial is carved in marble which was the
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most prevalent material used by professional carvers in theetury. Though

discolored by biological growth, the carving depicts a square column draped with a fringed
curtain. Beside her marker is a marble column memorial to her husband James M.
Hawthorn, who died in 1894 and for whom the city is named (Photo #8). An artistic
marble stone for the Surrency family plot depicts a pine tree with a sap bucket,
commemorating the family’s legacy with the turpentine industry (Photo #9). Marble is
also the customary material for government-issued tombstones for veterans, of which
many examples are found in Hawthorne Cemetery. The memorial to Berry Hutchins, a
veteran of World War | who died in 1956, (Photo #10) is one such example rendered in
marble.

Molded-sheet zinc memorials, termed “White Bronze” for marketing purposes by their
manufacturer, the Monumental Bronze Company of Bridgeport, Connecticut, were
distributed nationwide. They are hollow in composition, cast as sheets and joined along an
edge seam, and are distinctive in their appearance for their buff-gray color. Several
examples are present in the cemetery, such as the White Bronze memorial to Milo Cane
who died in 1900 (Photo #11). Itis a ‘cradle grave’ type, with an open space framed by a
decorative metal border that defines the rectangular burial shape. In this burial typology,
flowers were often placed within the open space as a ‘living’ grave meant to be tended.
This particular example has been filled with shells, symbolic of water and the transition or
voyage of the spirit over to a new pldcé wedge-shaped headstone, much like a pillow,
caps the top of the cradle grave. In a more traditional upright format, the memorial to
Spaffie Sherman, who died in 1902, is made of White Bronze and reflects the Gothic
Revival influence in the pointed arches at the apex of the monument and carved rosettes
below (Photo #12).

The ability to mix and pour slabs of concrete in molds has permitted local individuals, as
non-professional monument makers, to express themselves while making a memorial to a
loved one. One of the most distinctive memorials in the cemetery is the concrete marker
for Lucille Parker, who died in 1917 (Photo #13). The concrete follows the traditional
vertical tablet form, while the numerous seashells embedded in the concrete replaced shells

L John Michael Vlach, “Graveyard Decoratiofifie Afro-American Tradition in Decorative Arts.”
Cleveland Museum of Art, 1978, p.143.
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arranged upon the grave itsélfThe most unusual marker form consisting of a base, shaft
and cap, is the concrete memorial to J.S. Gibbs, who died in 1917 (Photo #14). This
unusual example, suggestive of a human form, is reminiscent of primitive wooden markers
that had a rectangular body that narrowed near the top, and finished with a circular cap
akin to a human head.

2 bid, p.145.
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SUMMARY

The Hawthorne Cemetery is nominated to the National Register for local significance
under Criterion A in the area of Community Planning & Development. The period of
significance spans from 1870 to 1964. Beginning with the burial of the town founder’s
wife in 1870, which was then just south of the Hawthorn homestead, this area continued in
usage as the community’s primary burial ground. By the 1880s, two train depots were
established in Hawthorne, making the town a commercial hub of the area, and thus
drawing in residents from the surrounding settlements. Early industries for the area were
primarily agricultural, including cotton growing and processing, vegetable harvesting
(mainly beans and tobacco), citrus production, lumber milling and turpentine. Buildings or
structures associated with these activities have not survived in Hawthorne. The train
depots, cotton gins, and lumber mill facility are no longer extant; many of the commercial
establishments and original residences have lost integrity through modern alterations. A
local and long-time resident, Francis Moore, sketched out a rough map of the Hawthorne
community during its prime in the mid-twentieth century (Figure #1). Compared with
modern aerials, the circulation patterns and settlement densities have changed. With the
significant expansion of both State Road 301 (running north and south), which served as a
bypass around the town, and Highway 20 (running east and west), traffic was rerouted
around the city thus contributing to its slow decline. With the loss of much of Hawthorne’s
historic fabric, this cemetery has become one of the best historic resources to exemplify the
importance of this city and its early development.

HISTORIC CONTEXT

Note: The letter “e” was added to the name of Hawthorn in 1950, and the use or exclusion
of the letter in this section will be determined by the historic context in which it is used.

The earliest settlers to the Hawthorne area began arriving after the end of the Second
Seminole War in 1845. In 1848, Daniel Morrison acquired the Southwest quarter of
section 25 which contained a stream that ran his grist n@h March 7, 1854, the
Morrison’s Mill Post Office was established, and a settlement known as Morrison’s Mill

! “Historic Hawthorne Florida Survey and Plan,” The University of Florida, unpublished report, July 1996,
p. 11.



NPS Form 10-900-a
OMB Approval No. 1024-0018
(8-86)

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
CONTINUATION SHEET

Section number 8 Page 2 HAWTHORNE CEMETERY,
HAWTHORNE, ALACHUA COUNTY,
FLORIDA

(Figure #2) developed around the mill and stream. The mill and stream were adjacent to
the intersection of the (north/south) Waldo to Ocala road, and the (east/west) Palatka to
Gainesville road. The stream connected the Little Orange Lake to the south, and the marsh
land to the north called Little Orange Creek. The 1860 census indicates a blacksmith
named F.W. Capell, two store owners, carpenters, a physician, farmers, and farm laborers
were residing in the area. Other early occupants were John Peacock, John Cannon, Willis
Cannon, W.R. Craig, W.W. Johnson, Calvin Waits and James Madison Ha#thorn.
Morrison’s Mill settlement was a commercial hub with four mills, a general store, a school
located along the stream, and a lumber mill located several miles to the south.

James Madison Hawthorn, an early settler to the area and later founder of Hawthorne, had
been a soldier in the Second Seminole Wars. He and his wife Parazade T. Hawthorn, and
two children, moved to the area from Morgan County, Georgia, in 1854. A train brought
the family as close as Waldo, Florida, where they took a boat to reach Melrose, a town
north of present day Hawthorne. As a veteran, Hawthorn was allowed to claim 100 acres
of land® Hawthorn was attracted to the orange groves he found and chose to go into the
citrus business. The claimed land was directly west of Little Orange Creek. He built a
house on an east/west road known as Orange Lane, in an area immediately north of what
would become the Hawthorne Cemetery (Figure*#Ble also acquired a large portion of

land west of Johnson Lake, the largest lake in Hawthorne. On a portion of this land the
first Baptist church was built in 1859, known as Pleasant Grove Chuseeking to have

a train depot nearby, Hawthorn had the property west of Lake Johnson platted in 1879
(Figure #4), and gave a square of land for a depot and right-of-ways to the Ocala
Peninsular Railroad which ran from Waldo to Ocala. The plat had 34 blocks with a church
noted at the northwest corner of May and Johnson Streets. That year the Morrison’s Mill
Post Office closed and the newly plated Jamestown, named for James Hawthorn, received
the post office. In March of the next year, the name changed to Hawthorn. Hawthorn was
incorporated in 1881.

2 Federal Census, Florida, Alachua County, 1860.

3 In 1855 Congress passed an act that gave warranties of land grants to veterans including those of the First
and Second Seminole Wars; 10 Stat. L.701.

4 “Hawthorne Cemetery Result of Public PridelAwthorne Reporter, March 1971, p.7.

5 “hawthornefirstbaptist.com” internet search September, 2014.
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Abutting the south-end of James Hawthorn’s land was a large piece of property owned by
Calvin Waits. A small settlement grew around the Waits property known as Waits
Crossing. The name “Crossing” came from the intersection of a north/south road (Hwy
301) and the Palatka to Gainesville road that ran through Waits’ property. Waits platted
“Waits Crossing” in 1881 (Figure #5). When the Peninsular Railroad men laying the
tracks through Hawthorn got to Waits’ property, he met them with a shotgun and
demanded that they pay his asking price to cross his land. It took a few days to acquire the
money and Waits thought he had foiled Hawthorn’s efforts, but the tracks were
completed?. By 1882 tracks were laid for the Florida Southern Railway which paralleled
the Palatka to Gainesville road through Wait’s Cros$ikgdepot was located in both

Wait’s and Hawthorns’ subdivisions.

In 1879, Dr. C.A. Simmons discovered phosphate at Magnesia Springs roughly three miles
west of the center of the two settlements of Jamestown and Waits Crossing. Simmons
began a mining operation in 1883, but without financial backing his effort did not last long.
The two train depots were perfectly situated to haul what phosphate was mined, as well as
enhance the marketability of other area products. Shipping began for kaolin, used in the
production of porcelain. Large quantities of citrus, lumber and turpentine was shipped
from Hawthorn. R.H. Smith (Photo #15) was the largest farmer in the area, and operated a
cotton gin in town. The railroad moved his cotton, oats and®@deng with local

commodities leaving Hawthorn, visitors, many from the north, disembarqued to seek
outdoor excursions of hunting and fishing. William S. Moore (Photo #16) who had moved
to Hawthorne from Tennessee in 1880, opened the Moore Hotel to accommodate the
visitors. Moore loved outdoor sports and arranged tourist excursions for the many visitors
he attracted to town. The hotel, now converted to apartments, remains in the family.
During the 1880s, the focus of settlement had shifted to Hawthorn and away from
Morrison’s Mill.

6 Hattie Hawthorn Knabb, “The Birth of a Town: Part Ortggiwvthorne Reporter, March 1972, p.2.

7 Zonira Hunter TollesBonnie Melrose: The Early History, Gainesville, Florida: Storter Printing Company,
1982, p.85.

8 “Graball: Now Hawthorne,Hawthorne Reporter,n.d.,n.p.
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Local Cemeteries

It is expected that in such a rural settlement burials took place at the edges of family land
or at a local church (Figure #6). Five other cemeteries have been identified locally,
although most are compromised by neglect or development. As an example, the Baptist
Church built in 1859 served as a burying ground as early as’1B6¢ated in the northern
part of the original plat of Hawthorn, the cemetery contained around fifty-two burials,
many with headstones and inscriptions, according to long-time residents. Sometime
around 1989 or 1990, the church built a new sanctuary on top of their cemetery.

A significant early African American cemetery associated with a Methodist Episcopal
Church was located an eighth of a mile southwest of Hawthorne Cemetery, and south of
Highway 20. In 1872, the Reverend James S. Gibbs (Photo #14) with other trustees,
purchased four acres of land for the church from H.A. Morrison and Columbus Morrison
for $40 (Photo #173° The congregation built a church on the property and internments
started. This was the first black church established in the area of Morrison’s Mill and
Hawthorn. In 1914, the church trustees sold the four acres for the same amount they
originally paid - $40. The deed had the words “cemetery lot No. 1 inclddedd trace

of the church or cemetery exists today, and the four acres are within a housing subdivision.

Another historically prominent cemetery for the community is the Morrison Cemetery
(Photo #18). The cemetery is within the Little Orange Creek Nature Park, owned by the
City of Hawthorne. The cemetery has a historic wire fence around three sides, and a gate
on the east side that opens onto the Waldo to Ocala road. Approximately 15 burials are
evident from mostly marble markers, but it is estimated that over one-hundred burials are
present? Names revealed on the remaining markers include several Morrison’s, but most
markers reveal other family names. The oldest existing markers belong to two Thomas
family children, buried in 1866. The tallest pedestal memorial topped with an urn is for

9 Alachua County Cemeteries, “Hawthorne Baptist,” Daughters of the American Revolution;
www:rootsweb.ancestry.com

10 Alachua County Clerk of the Court, Deed Record H, March 27, 1872, p.790.

1 Alachua County Clerk of the Court, Deed Record 95, November 1 1914, p.481.

2 Michael Stallings interview, 2014.
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Anna Carlton, who died in 1906. Until recently the cemetery was overgrown by vegetation
and clearing is still underway. Dwellings for families other than the Morrison’s were
located near the Little Orange Creek where several mills were located. A Morrison family
home was located just to the west of the mill on the Palatka-Gainesvill&road.

The smallest cemetery known is nearby, south of the Morrison’s Cemetery. At the south
end of Little Orange Creek, between 71st Avenue and the railroad tracks, is the Johnson
cemetery. It has three graves, for a Mrs. Johnson and her two children. A small concrete
marker existed to mark the burials, but was removed in recent years.

A small African American cemetery consisting of approximately thirty-five graves is
located on two acres, two miles west of the city and south of the Gainesville-Hawthorne
Trail. The first burial was approximately in 1901, and the most recent was over twenty
years ago in 1991. It is not maintained and small concrete markers denote some of the
graves.

HISTORIC SIGNIFICANCE

Beginning with the 1870 burial of Parazade T. Hawthorn, the wife of the town’s founder
James Madison Hawthorn, the cemetery developed around her burial site (Photo #8). The
cemetery was formally established in 1886. The earliest settlement area was focused on
Morrison’s Mill, located at the crossroads of Palatka to Gainesville, and Waldo to Ocala
roads. A large cemetery developed at Morrison’s Mill, but was abandoned by the middle
of the 20" century, and few memorials remain. With James Hawthorn’s orange groves and
residence west of Little Orange Creek, new residential growth occurred along Orange Lane
which is adjacent to the Hawthorne Cemetery. In 1879, Hawthorn’s overtures to the
Florida Central & Peninsula Railroad brought a depot and the post office name to his
extensive property holdings on the west side of Lake Johnson. Commerce and settlement
shifted away from Morrison’s Mill in the 1880s, and as did burials.

In the late 19 century Hawthorne Cemetery became the community’s main cemetery as
several groups moved to institute burials there. When Calvin Waits, business nemesis of
James Hawthorn, died in 1899, he was buried along with his family in the early section of

13 Francis Moore map, cal995, Hawthorne Historical Museum. A senior member of the Moore family.
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Hawthorne Cemetery (Photo #19). By the beginning of tHec2@tury, Daniel
Morrison’s sons and family were buried in the cemetery astvell.

Prominent members of the black community purchased land adjacent to the Parazade
Hawthorn burial section, even though a black cemetery existed at the Methodist Episcopal
Church®® On July18, 1887, African Americans purchased two acres adjacent to, and to the
west of, the white section. The two acres was referred to in the deed as the “Orange Creek
Cemetery,” and the point of beginning was the “NW corner of Cemetery for WHites.”

The title Orange Creek Cemetery does not appear again. The trustees of this new cemetery
included some of the more prominent members of the African American community, and
included Rev. James S. Lee (Photo #20), and James G. Jenkins, a literate forestry worker.
On March 22, 1926, trustees of the “Colored Cemetery,” for $30 purchased two additional
acres adjacent to the west of their original two attre¥enkins was again among this

group of trustees (Photo #21). This historically African American portion of the cemetery

to this day is separately owned, whereas the City of Hawthorne owns and maintains the
rest of Hawthorne Cemetery.

Developed during the days of horses and wagon transportation, the cemetery is situated on
the immediate outskirts of the Hawthorn settlement; between it and the settlement of
Morrison’s Mill. Located on the major east/west corridor, Highway 20/Hawthorne Road,

it is on high ground above a marshy extension of Little Orange Creek north of Hawthorne
Road. Early public records regarding the cemetery were lost in a Town Hall fire in the
1930s, making some early information difficult to determine. An article in a short lived
Hawthorne newspaper, the Hawthorne Reportetated March, 1971, states that the western
portion of the cemetery was cleared and was ready for lots to b¥ sbhds is confirmed

by a 1968 aerial photograph showing north/south cemetery access road from the western
most entrance in the concrete wall serving the active eastern portion, while the western
portion is open and cleared, but inactive.

¥ Find A Grave (web page), Calvin Waits, b.1829, d.1899; Columbus J. Morrison, b.1847, d.1906.

15 Alachua County Clerk of the Courts Archives, Deed Record H, March 27, 1872; Alachua County Clerk of
the Courts Archives, Deed Record 95, July 18, 1887.

16 Alachua County Clerk of the Courts Archives, Deed Book 29, Alachua County, Florida, 1887, p.508.

17 Alachua County Clerk of the Courts Archives, Deed Book 14, Alachua County, Florida 1926, p.12.

18 “Hawthorne Cemetery Result of Public PridelAwthorne Reporter, March 1971, p.7.
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This nomination addresses Special Criteria Consideration D for cemeteries since most of
the historic buildings from Hawthorne’s early period of establishment and growth have
been demolished or lack integrity. The names of the interred are important for relating the
historic narrative of this small community, and their markers serve as physical reminders
of their relationships and lives. The Hawthorne Cemetery is one of the best historic
resources to represent the story of this early rural Florida community.
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PHYSICAL BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

Parcel #19581

COM AT SE COR OF NE1/4 OF NE1/4 N 420 FTW 210 FT S630 FT W 483FT STON
LINE OF HIWAY NO 20 SE/LY ALONG HIWAY TO ELINE OF SEC N TO POB
ALSO A TRIANGULAR SHAPED PARCEL ON N SIDE OF HIWAY NO 20 ASPER
DB 155/172 ALSO SEE DB 133/167

Parcel #19581
COM AT SE COR OF NE1/4 OF NE/4ARUN W 210 FT S210 FT TO POB W 483 FT N
420 FT E483 FT S420 FT TO POB

BOUNDARY JUSTIRICATION

This property is historically associated with the Hawthorne Cemetery.
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PHOTOGRAHIC LIST

Hawthorne Cemetery

Alachua County, Florida

Debbie Harris

2013

View from Highway 20, looking northeast
Photo #1 of 21

ogahkwnE

Items 1 — 4 are the same for the following photographs.

5. East entrance, looking north
6. Photo #2 of 21

5. Access path, looking north
6. Photo #3 of 21

View of oldest section, looking northeast
Photo #4 of 21

oo

View of African American section, looking northwest
Photo #5 of 21

oo

View of section adjacent to highway, looking northwest
Photo #6 of 21

oo

Grave of Parazade Hawthorn, looking west
Photo #7 of 21

oo

Graves of James and Parazade Hawthorn, looking west
Photo #8 of 21

oo

Surrency family marker, looking west
Photo #9 of 21

oo
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5. Berry Hutchings marble headstone, looking west

6. Photo #10 of 21

Milo Crane “White Bronze” cradle marker, looking west
Photo #11 of 21

oo

Sharman “White Bronze” marker, looking west
Photo #12 of 21

oo

Lucille Parker concrete head stone, looking west
Photo #13 of 21

oo

J.S. Gibbs concrete marker, looking west
Photo #14 of 21

oo

R.H. Smith memorial, looking west
Photo #15 of 21

oo

William S. Moore memorial, looking west
Photo #16 of 21

oo

Columbus J. Morrison memorial, looking west
Photo #17 of 21

oo

Morrison’s Mill Cemetery, looking west
Photo #18 of 21

oo

Calvin Waits memorial, looking west
Photo #19 of 21

oo

Rev. James S. Lee memorial, looking west
Photo #20 of 21
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5. James G. Jenkins memorial, looking west

6. Photo #20 of 21

Figure#1 Morrison’s Mill, ca1930. Florida State Archives, Photo Collection.
Figure#2 Hawthorn’s 1879 Plat Map

Figure #3 Waits 1881 Plat Map

Figure#4 Map of Hawthorne cemeteries
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The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.


























